### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 88,218

LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

V.

WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, et **al.**,

Appellees.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

On Appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal Case No. 94-02729

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In an effort to assist this Court, this Initial Brief addresses the solid waste disposal special assessment, which was upheld by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, as well as the fire protection special assessment, which was struck by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, because the Fifth District Court's certified question to this Court included both issues.

No. of the

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Lake County, Florida (the "County") is a non-charter county operating under the authority of Article VIII, section 1(f), Florida Constitution. Under the br-oad home rule powers authorized in the 1968 Florida Constitution and implemented in Chapter 125, Florida Statutes, non-charter counties have all powers of selfgovernment so iong as the exercise of such powers is not inconsistent with a general iaw or special act. Furthermore, the Florida Legislature has enumerated certain specific powers to counties, including the authority to provide for fire protection and solid waste collection and disposal.  $\S$  125.01(1) (d), (1) (k) 1., Fla. stat., respectively. In furtherance of this constitutional and statutory authority, the County adopted various ordinances and resolutions to provide such services. The property owners, Water Oak Management Corp., et al. (the "Appellees") are challenging these special assessment programs as failing to provide a special benefit to the assessed properties.

#### Fire Protection Services

Under the County's constitutional and statutory authority, it currently provides comprehensive and consolidated fire protection services including both fire suppression activities and first response medical aid. The first response medical aid or rescue services stabilize and provide initial medical treatment until ambulance transport service can arrive. (Deposition of Craig Haun, p. 34, 11. 21-24, R. 2843). This subsequent ambulance treatment

and transport service is provided through contracts with local hospitals and is not funded by special assessments. (Deposition of Craig Haun, p. 36, 11. 13-20, R. 2845).

4. × ·

The County began its comprehensive approach to fire protection services in 1980 when it created five fire control districts to In the facilitate the provision of fire protection services. aggregate, the boundaries of the five fire control districts ultimately included all of the unincorporated areas and the municipal boundaries of the Town of Lady Lake. (Affidavit of Craig Haun, p. 2, para. 2, R. 1616). The County funded these districts through a special ad valorem tax levy, which was approved by the In 1984, the method of funding fire protection services voters. was changed when the voters of Lake County and the voters within each fire control district approved, by referendum, the imposition of a special assessment for fire protection. (Affidavit of Craig Haun, p. 3, para. 2, R. 1617). As a result of this voter approval, the County established, in 1985, a maximum assessment rate for various land uses within each fire control district.' The County provided and funded fire protection services from the proceeds of the special assessment levied within each fire control district.

On December 11, 1990, the County adopted Ordinance 1990-24 which consolidated the five separate fire control districts into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For example, the maximum assessment rate for residential property within each fire control district was \$35.00 per year. (Affidavit of Craig Haun, p. 3, para. 2, R. 1617). The assessment rates for other assessed property varies based on property use. (County Resolution No. 1992-155, R. 1787).

one municipal service taxing unit ("MSTU"),<sup>2</sup> including the entire unincorporated area of the County and the City of Minneola and Town of Lady Lake.<sup>3</sup> (Affidavit of Craig Haun, pp. 3-4, para. 5, R. 1617-1618). This ordinance, which consolidated the previously existing fire control districts into a single service unit, also authorized the collection of the fire and rescue special assessments pursuant to section 197.3632, Florida Statutes.

### <u>Solid Waste</u> Disposal

\*\*\* \* \* \*

In recognition of the problems related to solid waste management within the State, the Florida Legislature passed the Solid Waste Management Act of 1988 (the "Act").<sup>4</sup> The Act is **a** comprehensive regulatory scheme for solid waste management which delegates the responsibility for solid waste management functions among the State, counties, and municipalities. The Act requires counties to provide for the disposal of solid waste generated within the county. Section 403.706(1), Florida Statutes, mandates: "The governing body of **a** county has the responsibility and power to provide for the operation of solid waste disposal facilities to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The County acknowledges that "MSTU" is an improper term for the funding mechanism imposed in this case. The County should have labeled the new unit as an "MSBU"--municipal service benefit unit. The substantive analysis for this case does not change, however, regardless of the label.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The City of Minneola and the Town of Lady Lake each approved their inclusion within the County's MSTU. (Affidavit of Craig Haun, p. 4, para. 5, R. 1618).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Act was contained in Chapter 88-130, Laws of Florida, and is codified at Chapter 403, Part IV, Florida Statutes.

ه د موط

meet the need of all incorporated and unincorporated areas of the county. . . . "

With the constitutional and statutory powers of selfvested in non-charter counties and the statutory government responsibility for solid waste management mandated to be performed by counties as a backdrop, the Lake County Board of County adopted Ordinance Commissioners Nos. 1938-13 and 1990-14. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, pp. 2-3, para. 2, R. 1420-1421). These ordinances required all solid waste generated on property within Lake County to be disposed of at the County's approved solid waste facility, (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, pp. 2-3, para. 2, R. 1420-1421).

On December 11, 1990, the County adopted Ordinance 1990 -26 cr-eating an MSTU for the provision of solid waste services within the unincorporated area of the County. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 3, para. 3, R. 1421). The same meeting at which the County adopted Ordinance 1990-26, the County also adopted Resolution 1990-153, providing notice of the County's intent to use the non-ad valorem assessment method contained in section 197.3632, Florida Statutes.<sup>5</sup> (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 3, para. 3, R. 1421). Beginning with Fiscal Year 1992-1993, the County imposed special assessments for solid waste disposal services on all improved <u>residential property</u> within the unincorporated area of the County

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although the County adopted Resolution 1991-91 on June 4, 1991, which initially approved the solid waste non-ad valorem assessment for Fiscal Year 1991-1992, the County ultimately decided not to go forward with the assessment and none was imposed for that year. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 3, para. 3, R. 1421).

which did not have an agreement with a franchised solid waste hauler or was not otherwise exempt. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 5, para. 8, R. 1423). Significantly, the County declared in Resolution 1992-166 that the properties subject to the assessment were specially benefited by the provision of solid waste management and disposal services in the amount of the assessment. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, pp. 5-6, para. 8, R. 1423-1424). In the following year, 1993, the County expanded the scope of the solid waste management and disposal assessment to include imposition against just <u>all improved property</u> (not residential) within the unincorporated area. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 6, para. 10, R. 1424).

4**44** - 444

Within the County, the cost of providing solid waste disposal is presently funded in three ways. First, those property owners who have a contract with a solid waste hauler pay the cost of disposal directly to the hauler and the County imposes no special assessment against their property. The hauler then pays the cost of disposing that solid waste to the County through tipping fees. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 8, para. 15, R. 1426). Significantly, each of the Appellees in this case receive solid waste services through a hauler and the County does not impose a special assessment against them for solid waste disposal. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 9, para. 17, R. 1427).<sup>6</sup> Second,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The County preserved its argument on standing in its Answer to the Amended Complaint but because the circuit court ruled, as a matter of law that both special assessment programs were valid, it never reached the standing issue.

those properties for which no contract with a hauler exists pay the cost of solid waste disposal through the County's special assessment. Third, beginning in 1993, property which has a contract with a hauler can voluntarily request that the cost be collected through the **special** assessment and thus have the collection charge of the hauler appropriately reduced. (Affidavit of Ronald Roche, p. 8, para. 15, R. 1426).

#### The Procedural History

The Appellees here are the property owners of homestead, single family residences, and an owner of a commercial mobile home park and they filed suit against the County, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief from both the fire protection and solid waste disposal special assessments.<sup>7</sup> (Amended Complaint, R. 1036-1065) (Attached hereto as "Appendix C"). Specifically, as to the fire protection assessment, the Appellees alleged that "[n]o local improvements exist, the cost of which may be apportioned among specially benefited properties, fire protection services are not local improvements which may be financed through the imposition of special assessments as part of the taxing power." (Amended Complaint, p. 12, para. 28(d), R. 1047). As to the solid waste disposal assessment, the Appellees argued that the assessment was an invalid service charge imposed against homestead property in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The issue of whether the assessed services met the fair apportionment requirement for a valid special assessment **was** not before either the circuit court or the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

violation of the Florida Constitution. (Amended Complaint, p. 18, para. 39(b), R. 1053).

The County moved for summary judgment, arguing that both assessments were valid as a matter of law and that no material facts were in dispute. (R. 1290-1418). After a hearing on the motion, the circuit court entered summary final judgment in favor of the County on both the fire protection and solid waste disposal special assessments. (R. 3237-3260, attached hereto as "Appendix B"). The Appellees appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (r. 3261-3287), which struck the County's special assessment imposed for fire protection services but upheld the imposition of a special assessment for solid waste disposal. The court stated, "While we find no error in Lake County's special assessment of all improved non-exempt property in the county for solid waste disposal, especially in light of the Supreme Court of Florida's recent decision in Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, 2d 180 (Fla. 1995), we cannot agree that Lake Inc., 667 So. County's fire protection special assessment is a valid special assessment," Water Oak Manasement Corp. v. Lake Countv, 673 So. 2d 135, 136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (footnote omitted) (attached hereto as "Appendix A"). Additionally, the court certified the following question to the Supreme Court of Florida:

> IS LAKE COUNTY'S FUNDING BY SPECIAL ASSESSMENT OF SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL AND/OR FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES VALID UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

673 so. 2d at 139.

The County timely filed its Notice of Appeal from the decision in the Fifth District Court of Appeal and the Appellees have crossappealed. This Court has reserved ruling on jurisdiction but established a schedule for briefs on the merits by order dated June 12, 1996.

· · · ·

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should vacate the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case and affirm the decision of the circuit court, finding that both the County's special assessments for fire protection and solid waste disposal were valid as **a** matter of law.

The County's special assessments meet the requirements of providing a special benefit to the assessed properties and fairly and reasonably apportioning the costs of the services among the benefited properties. Most particularly, both the solid waste disposal and fire protection services are logically related to the use of and enjoyment of the assessed properties. As such, both services, **as** created and implemented by the County, confer a special benefit on the assessed properties. The County's special assessments for fire protection and solid waste disposal are bolstered by over 20 further years of Florida precedent specifically upholding these services as ones which may be validly funded with special assessments.

In addition, the Lake County Board of County Commissioners legislatively declared that both services confer this special benefit and those findings, in the absence of direct evidence to the contrary, are entitled to judicial deference. Likewise, the decision of a local, legislative body to fund services or improvements from special assessments is not subject to judicial review. The question which remains for the judiciary is not whether one funding source among many is better but whether the chosen funding source meets the requirements for that source.

Thus, in this case, the fact that the County had previously funded its fire protection and solid waste disposal services through nonspecial assessment revenue sources does not effect the validity of such special assessments.

1.1

Furthermore, this Court has specifically and recently clarified that whether a service or Improvement is provided throughout a community is not a fact to consider in evaluating an otherwise valid special assessment. The requirements for special assessments remain the same regardless of the size or shape of the geographic area in which the assessed services or improvements are Thus, because the County's special assessments for fire provided. protection and solid waste disposal specially benefit the assessed properties and they are fairly apportioned among those benefited properties, the fact that both services are provided community-wide does not invalidate the assessment programs.

#### ARGUMENT

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In the recent opinions of Citv of Boca Raton v. State, 595 2d 25 (Fla. 1992), and Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of so. Christ, 667 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1995), this Court has provided clear direction as to the requirements of valid special assessments. As a result of the instant case and two other cases currently pending,' this Court now has the opportunity to provide further instruction on the constitutional structure and use of special assessments. Clear and consistent judicial guidance from this Court on the application of the requirements for a valid special assessment is imperative to maintain the stability of local government finance. Nowhere are the competing demands of our changing society on the financial capacity of government more clear and apparent than in the city halls and county courthouses. Special assessments are an established home rule revenue source available to local governments to fund several essential services and many capital improvements. Predictability in enforcing local government finance choices requires consistent and reliable rules.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Oral argument on the review of <u>Harris V. Wilson</u>, 656 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), <u>rev. pending</u>, 666 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 1995), is scheduled for September 6, 1996 (Case No. 86,210). Similar to this case, the issue in <u>Harris</u> is the validity of a special assessment imposed on all improved residential property within the unincorporated area to provide solid waste disposal services. The judicial discretion to not order a refund of an invalid special assessment imposed in good faith has been certified by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Madison County v. Foxx</u>, 672 So. 2d 840 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), <u>rev. pending</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 87,594.

This Court took the opportunity in <u>City of Boca Raton v.</u> State, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992), to summarize, for the first time, decades of case law into an articulated, clear, and succinct two prong test for valid special assessments. This Court declared, "First, the property assessed must derive a special benefit from the services provided. [cits. omitted] Second, the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among the properties that receive the special benefit." 595 so. 2d at 29.9 This Court, in its City of Boca Raton decision, also clearly recognized that the benefit considerations primarily define the difference between a "Taxes and tax and a special assessment. This Court explained: special assessments are distinguishable in that, while both are mandatory, there is no requirement that taxes provide any specific benefit to the property; instead, they may be levied throughout the particular taxing unit for the general benefit of residents and property. On the other hand, special assessments must confer a special benefit upon the land burdened by the assessment." Id.

4 m x - 4 m x

More recently, this Court took the opportunity to provide additional guidance as to the characteristics of valid special

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A separate "special benefit test" was generally not at issue in **cases** decided under the 1885 Florida Constitution because a county or municipality did not possess the home rule power to impose a special assessment and because a tax could be authorized by a special act. This absence of any constitutional distinction between a general law or a special act as the vehicle for statutory authorization for both taxing and regulatory powers of local governments had blurred the language used to describe the two-prong test articulated in <u>City of Boca Raton</u>. Thus, whether the charge was a special assessment within county or municipal home rule power or a tax preempted to the State was not an issue in decisions prior to the 1968 constitutional revision.

assessments through its opinion in <u>Sarasota County v.</u> <u>Sarasota</u> <u>Church of Christ</u>, 667 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1995), by specifically clarifying four principles,

First, this Court in <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of</u> <u>Christ</u> recognized that the community-wide imposition of a special assessment program is not a factor in determining its validity. This Court stated as follows:

> Although a special assessment is typically imposed for a specific purpose designed to benefit a specific area or class of property owners, this does not mean that the costs of services can never be levied throughout a community as a whole. Rather, the validity of a special assessment turns on the benefits received by the recipients of the services and appropriate apportionment of the cost the thereof. This is true regardless of whether the recipients of the benefits are spread throughout an entire community or are merely located in a limited, specified area within See, e.g., south Trail community. the (special assessment for fire services found to benefit all properties within the district,

667 So. 2d at 183 (emphasis in original).

Second, this Court clarified that merely because a specially assessed service had been funded through ad valorem taxes is not a factor in evaluating its validity. This Court commented:

> Although we do not find that the previous funding of stormwater services through taxation was inappropriate, we do find that the stormwater funding through the special assessment at issue complies with the dictates of chapter 403 and is a more appropriate funding mechanism under the intent of that statute.

667 So. 2d at 186.

و ا

Third, legislative determinations as to the existence of special benefit and fair apportionment are entitled to judicial deference unless found to be arbitrary. This Court held that "the legislative determination as to the existence of special benefits and as to the apportionment of the costs of those benefits should be upheld unless the determination is arbitrary." 667 So. 2d at 184.

Fourth, the special benefit concept includes the elimination of a burden caused **by** property use. In analyzing the special benefit of stormwater management, this Court declared:

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