IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AUG 26 11996

LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellants,

ν.

Ι

Ι

Ι

WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, ET AL.,

Appellees.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT ____

CASE NO. 88,218

COPY

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

DANIEL C. BROWN (191049)
Katz, Kutter, Haigler, Alderman,
Marks & Bryant, P.A.
Highpoint Center, Suite 1200
106 East College Avenue
Tallahassee, Florida 32301

LARRY E. LEVY (0047019) Post Office Box 10583 Tallahassee, Florida 32301

Attorneys for Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Upholding these special assessments would obliterate any meaningful distinction between taxes and special assessments and will eviscerate the homestead exemption and millage cap provisions of the 1968 Florida Constitution.

The county places its "special assessments" on the county tax roll as "non-ad valorem assessments." If the property owners fail to timely pay the charges, a lien is imposed on their property, and a tax sale certificate is sold. If they do not redeem the certificates, their property ownership is transferred to the certificate buyer, or another bidder, by means of a tax deed. The

-7-

ordinances impose the levy for garbage disposal only on those property owners who do not elect to participate in the garbage collection program by contracting directly with the franchised garbage hauler, and this constitutes an improper delegation of authority and a due process violation.

To be valid special assessments, the charges must meet a two-They must first be charges for a unique benefit pronged test. bestowed on the assessed property (the first prong). The benefit may not be merely like in kind to the general benefit enjoyed by property or persons from a government function; it must be distinguished in kind from those general benefits, and must be provided uniquely to the assessed property. E.g., Boca Raton v. State of Florida, 595 So.2d 25, 29 (Fla. 1992). If the charge meets the first prong, it must then pass the second prong of the The method of apportionment must not be constitutional test: arbitrary or capricious in relation to the special benefit conferred. Id. The property owners here raise first prong challenges.

The 1968 Florida Constitution contains a carefully crafted set of protections for property owners. Counties are constitutionally limited in their power to impose ad valorem taxes, the only form of taxation devoted to local government. Counties may levy 10 mils for county purposes and 10 mils for municipal purposes (when providing municipal-type services in the unincorporated county areas). Art. VII, § 9(b), Fla. Const; see also § 125.01(q),(r), Fla. Stat. Homestead owners are given an exemption from ad valorem tax up to

-8-

\$25,000 of assessed value. Article VII, § 6, Fla. Const.; § 196.031(3) (e), Fla. Stat. Accordingly, the Constitution intends that homesteads will bear a comparatively lesser burden to support local government than non-homestead property. Nor may a lien for debt attach to homestead property without the property owner's consent. Art. X, § 4, Fla. Const. Similarly, all taxpayers = homestead owners and non-homestead owners alike = enjoy the constitutional assurance that, without voter approval, local governments may not tax their properties beyond set limits.

The exceptiontothis protection blueprint is "assessments for special benefits." Art. VII, § 6, Fla. Const. Homestead property, though significantly exempted from ad valorem taxes, and though completely exempt from liens for other fees and charges, is not exempt from liens for "assessments for special benefits." Similarly, though the millage caps of Article VII, section 9(b) apply to ad valorem taxes, there is no cap on assessments for special benefits. *Howell* Water & *Reclamation Dist. v. State, 268* So.2d 897, 899 (Fla. 1972).

Hence, unless local governments' use of "special assessments" is closely scrutinized and kept uncompromisingly within the intended constitutional channel, the proliferation of spurious "special assessments" will erode the protection of homestead property and the constitutional limits on local government taxing power. The judiciary has the duty to protect the individual rights of a class of property owners when such rights are secured in the Constitution.

-9-

Neither fire protection nor solid waste management provides the <u>unique</u> benefit to the assessed property which the Florida Constitution requires in order to impose special assessments on homestead property. All property and persons are benefitted similarly by fire service' and solid waste management. A general community benefit is constitutionally insufficient to support a special assessment.

If the county may expediently label these charges as "assessments for special benefits," then the counties may freely circumvent the constitutional limits on the burdens they may extract from property owners to support local government, and may freely circumvent the homestead protection intended by the Constitution's framers. If fire fighting and solid waste management are held to confer the sort of special benefit which will support a special assessment, then equally so would many other county functions.

The threat is real. Lake County has passed ordinances to fund not only fire protection and solid waste management, but police protection, libraries, transportation, animal control and recreation by means of "special assessments," declaring that each provides a *@special benefit" to property. (R. 835-843; A0217-A0225).

Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc., 667 So.2d 180, (Fla. 1995) represents the high water mark of permissible special assessments. It does not condone this fire assessment. In that case, the properties which caused the storm water runoff

-10-

problem were disbursed throughout the county. However, each assessed property received a benefit not generally extended to other property or to the community - the control and treatment of storm water runoff from man-made impervious surfaces installed on each property, a function which is the duty of such landowners to others, in the first instance.

Here, in contrast, every property, vacant or improved, and every person enjoys the benefit of fire and rescue service. All property in the county, improved or unimproved, presents the threat of fire. Fire response protects the community generally from conflagration.

Nor does Sarasota County condone the solid waste assessment. This assessment does not merely defray the cost of removing debris from a particular property. The lion's share pays for landfill operations and other general operating costs of the solid waste system. The benefits of that system - protection of health and the environment - are extended to all citizens of the county and of the state, and all property contributes to the need. Moreover, the thrust of the ordinance is to impose a lien for charges which are ex contractu, and cannot be the basis for imposing a forced lien on homesteads.

The county's claim of a "logical relationship" between improved property and the demand for fire service does not satisfy the Constitution's requirement of a special benefit. If a special assessment for fire fighting is justified by a notion that improved property calls for more fire service, then by that logic, special

-11-

assessments are also permitted for a myriad of other functions for which development increases demand. If that were the constitutional test, then the millage caps on local government and the homestead exemption would be virtually meaningless.

Instead, the courts must look to the policies underlying the homestead exemption and the millage caps. When that is done, neither assessment can be valid.

The county wrongly claims that Sarasota County puts the determination of special benefit beyond the power of the courts, and in the domain of local legislative fiat. Sarasota County cites earlier cases holding that the proof of no special benefit must be clear and cogent, and earlier cases which are <u>second arong</u>, fair apportionment cases. Judicial inquiry concerning the existence of a special benefit must start with recognition of the purposes of homestead exemption and millage caps, and the evidence pro or con must be independently evaluated by the courts in light of those purposes. otherwise, the judiciary abdicates its responsibility to enforce and protect the Constitution. See Dade County Classroom Teachers Ass'n, Inc. v. Legislature, 269 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1972); Sparkman v. State, 58 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1952). Surely, in Sarasota County the Court did not intend such abdication.

The evidence here is clear and cogent: neither program provides the constitutionally intended unique benefit to properties assessed. These assessments are merely devices to fund general county health-safety-welfare operations improperly.

-12-

Finally, the county and its amici rely on cases which are <u>second prong</u>, fair apportionment cases, not <u>first prong</u>, special benefit decisions. Those cases did not decide the issues presented here. However, other cases decided by this Court hold that fire and solid waste functions may not be funded by special assessments.

ARGUMENT

I. SARASOTA COUNTY V. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, INC. DOEB NOT REACH THE ISSUES PRESENTED HERE; AND OTHER DECISIONS OF THIS COURT ARE DISPOSITIVE AGAINST THE COUNTY'S ARGUMENTS

This case presents facts which the Court did not address in Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc. The property owners here do not complain simply that the special assessments are levied throughout the unincorporated area. Geographic reach is not the sine qua non of the first prong test. Rather, the core of the first prong test is whether assessed properties are conferred some <u>uniaue benefit</u> for which the assessment may be levied, a benefit different in kind from that generally enjoyed by the community.

In Sarasota County, though disbursed throughout the county, each assessed property received a direct and unique benefit not extended to other properties or to the community generally. Each assessed property owner had the duty to prevent runoff to other properties caused by the alteration of the assessed properties from their natural states. The stormwater system relieved the property owners of that burden. Unimproved properties, having no man-made impervious surfaces, had no such duty, and thus received no such direct and unique benefit.

-13-

Here, in contrast, no unique benefit flows to the assessed properties, distinguished from the benefits flowing to all property and all persons in the county from fire and rescue service. Vacant land, equally with improved land, presents the risk of fire. Timberland, cropland, hayfields and public rights of way all experience fires. As recent Western States fires aptly show, many fires begin as brush fires and spread to improved land.

Fire response protects not merely a specific property, but all properties and persons, from conflagration. Fire service extends to vacant and improved real property, to movable personal property (equipment, automobiles, boats, planes, etc.), and to persons. The fire department responds to accident and crime scenes, providing extrication and medical service, as well as fire fighting. It responds to civil emergencies, such as windstorms, removing debris, and subduing flames erupting in public and private venues. County witnesses testified that all county property benefits by fire protection.⁴

Likewise, the solid waste management system provides no unique benefit to assessed properties which is not enjoyed by the community generally. The vast majority of the waste system expense

⁴The county claims some variance in degree of benefit depending upon a property's proximity to a fire hydrant (since property owners closer to a hydrant pay a lesser insurance rate owners whose property is more distant from hydrant locations). (R. 3100-3102; A0266-A0268) (R. 2861-2864; A0242-A0247). However, the county neither provides fire hydrants, nor maintains them. The assessment is not used to install, maintain or repair these hydrants. Instead, where hydrants are available, they are installed by private or city-operated water systems. (R. 2879-2880; A0251-A0252).

(\$15,000,000 over the next 15-25 years) is for of the county's duty under state and federal law to protect the state's ground water and subterranean aquifer from landfill discharge. (R. 3266-3169; A0282-A02825), (R. 2947-2952; A0358-A0363). The solid waste assessment defrays that cost, along with other general operating expenses of the solid waste program. (R. 2452-2460; A0273-A0281), (R. 1527; A0035-A0110), (R. 1460-1461; A0327-A0357). Lake County Ordinance 1992-7 defines the "Solid Waste Management System Costs" thusly:

Solid Waste Management System Costs mean any costs, including capital outlay, for the disposal or management of solid waste, including the costs for (1) the resource recovery program, which includes the net service fee due to the operator of the county's resource recovery facility⁵ and the county's direct resource recovery/ash monofill program costs; (2) the recycling program, including drop off centers, processing facilities, mulching or compost facilities or any other associated recycling activity; (3) the landfill management program, including closure and long term maintenance costs;⁶ (4) transfer station costs; (5) the hazardous waste program; and (6) administrative, implementation, or financing costs, including debt service, associated with the county's solid waste management and disposal program.

⁵ This phrase refers to the "Ogden facility," which burns certain trash to generate electricity. Under a contract between the county and Ogden, the county is obligated to deliver a certain minimum tonnage of burnable refuse or "biomass." If the county fails to do so, it is contractually obligated to pay the facility operator a fee. (R. 3148-3153; A0366-A0371).

⁶ This phrase has reference to the county's obligation, under a consent decree entered into with the State of Florida, Department of Environmental Protection, to properly close and then manage the closed landfill known as "Astitula I," to keep leakage from that landfill from reaching the surface or ground waters of the state. § 403.706, Fla. Stat.; (R. 3186-3187; A0286-A0287).

(R. 1461-1462; A0327-A0328). The "Solid Waste Management System Assessment" is levied "to pay all or a portion of the Solid Waste System Cost attributable to Improved Property" (R. 1461; A0327).⁷

The accumulation of substances deposited at landfills, resulting in the leachate which must be prevented, does not originate only from assessed property. Oil products are used in personal property - primarily vehicles. The need for their management arises from use by all persons in the county. Discarded machinery and equipment is personalty, used on unimproved and public land as well as on improved property. Noxious chemicals insecticides, herbicides and the like - are used on unimproved land, as well as improved. Their remnants must be managed regardless of where used. General trash and biological wastes accumulate on unimproved land and public by-ways, as well. The need for disposal and control of all these substances arises from human activity occurring generally throughout the county.

In sum, the facts of this case are far different from the facts presented in Sarasota County.

Sarasota *County* must be considered the high water mark of constitutionally permitted special assessments, if the integrity of the homestead exemption and millage caps is not to be violated. Other decisions of this Court have considered the validity of fire

⁷ The implementing resolutions setting the manner of computation of the assessment show, as well, that total system costs are recouped by the assessment. (R. 1447-1449; 1493-1494; 1527; A0297-A0299; A0306-A0307; A0320).

and waste management assessments. Those decisions hold that such functions cannot support special assessments.

A. DECISIONS DEALING DIRECTLY WITH IMPROPER SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR FIRE PROTECTION AND SOLID WASTE COLLECTION DISPOSE OF THE COUNTY'S ARGUMENTS

This Court has previously invalidated attempts to impose fire and solid waste special assessments, and thus avoid the Florida Constitution's taxpayer protections.

St. Lucie County -Fort Pierce Fire Prevention & Control Dist. v. Higgs, 141 So.2d 744, 745-46 (Fla. 1962) addressed a fire special assessment. The court invalidated the assessment, reasoning as follows:

We agree with the learned circuit judge that the levy is a tax and not a special assessment for the reason he <u>gave</u>, namely, that no parcel of land was swecially or <u>geculiarly benefitted in wrowortion to its value</u>, but that the tax was a ueneral one on all wrowertv in the <u>district for the benefit of all</u>. Our view harmonizing with that of the circuit judge, it follows that we also accept his conclusion that the first \$5000 of each homestead is exempt because only in the *case* of special assessments could it be reached.

Id. (emphasis added).

The infringement of the homestead exemption by means of a solid waste special assessment was confronted in City of Ft. Lauderdale v. Carter, 71 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1954):

The City of Fort Lauderdale has levied an ad valorem tax upon all property, real and personal, in the city, for the fiscal year 1953-54, the revenues produced thereby to be used to defray the expenses of garbage, waste and trash collection.

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